FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
6/2/2023 8:00 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/2/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

102054-6

No. 383199

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEVIN CHRISTOPHER KIENOW, Appellant,

v.

TERESA A DITTENTHOLER KIENOW, Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Devin Kienow
Petitioner

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Devin Kienow (“Kienow”) asks this Court to accept review of *In re: Kienow*. Kienow was the petitioner at the trial court, and the appellant at the Court of Appeals.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Kienow asks to review jurisdiction, decision making, and the parenting plan, to include the application of domestic violence.

The Court of Appeals decision was filed March 14, 2023. The order on motion for reconsideration was filed on May 2, 2023.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The law requires that Washington, when it is a child’s home state, must (1) exclusively assert jurisdiction; and, further, (2) void and disallow any other court’s attempt at jurisdiction. The trial court

did not adhere to the law, allowed another court to have jurisdiction for 16 months, and then created its own jurisdictional analysis. Should subject matter jurisdiction be corrected to adhere to statutory and case law?

2. Washington protects domestic violence survivors and their children. The trial court found that seeking restraining orders as unfounded and an abusive use of conflict and then entered RCW 26.09.191 restrictions against the survivor. It also did not limit the residential time of the offender. Should domestic violence survivors, to include children, be punished for seeking help from the court?
3. Sole decision making is required, to include barring alternative dispute resolution, when the other parent is found to have a history of acts of domestic violence. The trial court created its own version of decision making—it ordered limited sole decision making. Should the court have ordered complete sole decision making?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about the dissolution of a stay-at-home parent: Kienow, and a working parent: Teresa

Dittenthaler (“Dittenthaler”). Kienow was the primary parent throughout the entire marriage. CP 73 – 74; CP 115; CP 350, Finding 22.2; Appendix 7, Finding 22.2.

Dittenthaler committed domestic violence against Kienow throughout the marriage. CP 356, Finding 22.8; Appendix 8, Finding 22.8, Appendix 13.

Dittenthaler filed for dissolution in tribal court. CP 146. Kienow filed at the superior court¹. CP 1 – 10. The marriage was lived entirely on state land—never within the exterior boundaries of any tribal reservation. CP 16, 305. Neither Kienow, nor the children, are enrolled or enrollable in any tribe. CP 16, 61, 305. The superior court refused to assert jurisdiction and sent the dissolution back to tribal court. CP 28. Kienow fought in three courts for 16

¹ The *trial* court is stated as “superior” court in **D** to set apart the closely spelled *tribal* court.

months: tribal, superior, and federal.

The superior court did not assert jurisdiction for 16 months. CP 222 - 27. Then the superior court viewed the tribal court parenting plan as a precedent. *Id.* CP 115; RP 202.

The jurisdictional error and the intransigence of Dittenthaler caused unneeded litigation, incorrect parenting plan precedent, change of status quo to the children, and cost Kienow massive amounts of money in attorney's fees.

E. ARGUMENT

The issues presented in this petition meet the standard for governing acceptance of review by the Supreme Court.

- 1. Subject matter jurisdiction is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington***

The Washington Constitution vests the superior court with original jurisdiction in all cases and of all proceedings in which jurisdiction shall not have been by law vested exclusively in some other court. *Ledgerwood v. Lansdowne*, 120 Wn. App. 414, 419, 85 P.3d 950, 952, (2004) (citing Wash. Const. art. IV, § 6).

Here, subject matter jurisdiction was not vested in any other court. And the subject matter jurisdiction analysis is still incomplete. Jurisdiction must, by the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (“UCCJEA”) statute, be exclusive and continuing in Washington state from the petition file date.

The pertinent UCCJEA statutes are as follows:

Home state.

"Home state" means the state in which a child lived with a parent or a person acting as a parent for at least *six consecutive months immediately before the*

commencement of a child custody proceeding.

RCW 26.27.021(7) (emphasis added)

Tribes are states.

A court of this state *shall treat a tribe as if it were a state* of the United States for the purpose of applying Articles 1 and [*Jurisdiction*].

RCW 26.27.041(2) (emphasis added)

Here, the children always resided in Washington—
never on tribal land. Thus, the UCCJEA required that the trial court assert exclusive and continuing jurisdiction from the petition file date. RCW 26.27.021(7).

Further, no other court was the children's home state. The UCCJEA requires that "no other state's courts may properly exercise jurisdiction." *In re Marriage of McDermott*, 175 Wn. App. 467, 485 307 P.3d 717, 726 (2013). Thus, as far as the Washington legislature is concerned, jurisdiction was never with any other court, to

include any tribal or foreign country's courts. RCW 26.27.041(2), RCW 26.27.051(1). Therefore, *McDermott* shows that Washington had a duty to prevent any other court from asserting jurisdiction.

But the trial court did not assert exclusive, continuing jurisdiction. CP 350. It waited 16 months before "assuming" jurisdiction.

And then, at trial, it created its own jurisdictional standard. The trial court concluded it has "ongoing" jurisdiction. CP 350. But the phrasing "ongoing jurisdiction" is not listed anywhere within the UCCJEA.

Because subject matter jurisdiction is reviewed *de novo*, it cannot be based off agreement or concession, the jurisdictional facts, coupled with statutory, non-discretionary law, require that this Court assert exclusive

and continuing jurisdiction from the petition file date of July 19, 2018, this Court should remand to the trial court to correct jurisdiction.

2. *Domestic violence is of substantial public interest.*

This petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court has explicitly recognized a public policy interest in preventing domestic violence. *Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Servs., Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 200, 217, 193 P.3d 128, 136, (2008). That is, Washington has a clear public interest in reducing domestic violence and protecting its victims. *Id.* at 221, 138. In *Danny*, this Court specifically stated:

The legislative, judicial, and executive branches of government have repeatedly declared that it is the public policy of this state to prevent domestic violence by encouraging domestic violence victims to escape violent situations, protect children from

abuse, report domestic violence to law enforcement, and assist efforts to hold their abusers accountable.

Id.

This Court went further and recognized the intent of the legislators was so strong that liability should be found with those that thwart efforts of survivors to protect themselves. *See Danny*, 165 Wn.2d 220, 193 P.3d 138 (“this state's clear and forceful public policy against domestic violence supports liability for employers who thwart their employees' efforts to protect themselves from domestic violence.”)

Thus, a domestic violence survivor should be protected, and, further, should not be punished for asking a court to issue restraining orders.

Here, Kienow sought relief from domestic violence at the trial court. Indeed, Dittenthaler had hit Kienow

throughout the marriage, broke doors, and said she wanted to punch the children in the face. RP 167 – 168, Ex. 1.23. The trial court punished him multiple times. First, the trial court punished Kienow by denying the restraining orders.

Then, at trial, the trial court punished him once again: the trial court deemed Kienow's requests for immediate restraining orders—occurring years prior—were now unfounded and an abusive use of conflict and deeming them as withholding the children. CP 351. The trial court then used those latter findings as a basis for RCW 26.09.191 ("191") restrictions against Kienow.

Additionally, the trial court abused its discretion by calling an honest answer an abusive use of conflict. CP 353.

Nonetheless, the 191 do not erase each other. Although the trial court found “both parents are subject to [191] restrictions,” CP 353, they are not equal. That is, even if the 191 findings against Kienow remain, they do not wash away, or otherwise balance, the more severe 191 domestic violence findings against Dittentholer.

F. CONCLUSION

This Court should remand to the trial court to correct the ruling on jurisdiction. That is, the order should express that Washington has exclusive and continuing jurisdiction and it should be set from July 19, 2018. It should also remand to enter an order that voids all orders from the incorrect jurisdiction—tribal court.

This Court should remand to vacate / remove all the 191 restrictions against Kienow.

This Court should remand to correct the parenting plan to limit the residential time of Dittentholer's due to her history of acts of domestic violence.

This Court should remand to correct the trial court's order limiting sole decision making—Kienow should have sole decision making without exception. This Court should remand and vacate that the children must attend a private religious school for the next eight years.

Alternatively, this Court should remand to correct that Kienow should not have to pay for the private, religious school.

This Court should also remand to correct that alternative dispute resolution is barred due to Dittentholer's history of acts of domestic violence.

This Court should remand to modify the parenting

plan to be consistent with the above, to include statutory law regarding 191 restrictions.

This Court should remand to the trial court to enter intransigence findings against Dittenthaler.

This document contains 1,542 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count in RAP 18.17.