FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/29/2023 4:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102054-6

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of: DEVIN C. KIENOW, Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

TERESA DITTENTHOLER f/k/a KIENOW, Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER M. RITCHIE, WSBA #41293
Attorneys for Respondent
Meyer, Fluegge & Tenney, P.S.
P.O. Box 22680
Yakima, WA 98907
(509) 575-8500

DAVID THERRIEN-POWER, WSBA #40627
Attorneys for Respondent
Yakima Law, PLLC
212 N. Naches Ave.
Yakima, WA 98901
(509) 903-9500

IV.	STATEMENT OF CASE
v.	LEGAL ARGUMENT
	A. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B) 2
	B. THE COURT OF APPEALS' RULING REGARDING JURISDICTION DOES NOT IMPLICATE RAP 13.4(B)
	C. PETITIONER'S DISSATISFACTION WITH THE PARENTING PLAN DOES NOT IMPLICATE RAP 13.4(B)
VI.	CONCLUSION9

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
State Cases
<u>Cudney v. ALSCO, Inc.</u> , 172 Wn.2d 524, 259 P.3d 244 (2011)
<u>Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc.</u> , 128 Wn.2d 931, 935, 913 P.2d 377, 379 (1996)
<u>In re Marriage of Kovacs</u> , 121 Wn.2d 795, 801, 854 P.2d 629 (1993)
Katare v. Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35, 283 P.3d 546 (2012) 9
<u>Matter of Marriage of Kienow,</u> 25 Wn. App. 2d 1064 (2023)
Roberts v. Dudley, 140 Wn.2d 58, 993 P.2d 901 (2001) 7
Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co., 184 Wn.2d 268, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015)
<u>State v. Watson</u> , 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)
<u>Statutes</u>
RAP 2.4
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)

I. IDENTITY OF ANSWERING RESPONDENT

Respondent Teresa Dittentholer asks this Court to deny the Petition for Review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The unanimous and correct decision by Division III of the Washington Court of Appeals adhering to long-standing Washington law filed on March 14, 2023, in Matter of Marriage of Kienow, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1064 (2023).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Has Petitioner asserted a cognizable basis for Supreme Court review under the limited criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of this case are accurately set out in Division III's opinion. They are not restated here for the sake of brevity but are incorporated by this reference.

V. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

The Court should deny Petitioner's Petition for Review, as Petitioner has presented no argument that the Court of Appeals or the Superior Court's decisions were in error. Petitioner takes issue with the substance of the lower courts' rulings on parental decision making and the parenting plan and the trial court's decision to assert jurisdiction, which is an insufficient basis to reverse the Court of Appeals and the trial court.

A. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B)

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will **only** be accepted by the Supreme Court:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added)

Petitioner has not identified any conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals. Nor does this case involve a significant question of constitutional law. Therefore, RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3) do not provide grounds for review. Finally, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because the Petition does not involve "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

In short, Petitioner in this matter has failed to provide this

Court with any basis justifying acceptance of review and this

Court should deny review of the case.

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS' RULING REGARDING JURISDICTION DOES NOT IMPLICATE RAP 13.4(B)

Petitioner argues that the trial court erred in not asserting exclusive jurisdiction over the matter. *Petition for Review at 7*. He argues this presents a significant question of constitutional

law. *Id.* It does not, and the jurisdiction argument fails to justify discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b) for several reasons.

First, as an initial matter, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the jurisdiction issue was not properly before it since Petitioner has not timely appealed it. Matter of Marriage of Kienow, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1064 at *5. The Court of Appeals' decision not to review an issue that was never properly raised on appeal does not present a significant question of constitutional law. It presents a routine question of appellate procedure. See RAP 2.4. That should end the inquiry.

Second, it is not entirely clear what error Petitioner claims the lower courts made. The trial court did in fact assert jurisdiction. See Matter of Marriage of Kienow, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1064. Petitioner seemingly takes issue with how long it took to do so, but that is a red herring. If the trial court asserted jurisdiction, that renders Petitioner's argument moot. To the extent Petitioner asserts that the trial court, by delaying asserting

jurisdiction, improperly deferred to the tribal court's parenting plan, the Court of Appeals has already appropriately assessed and rejected that argument as unfounded. As the Court of Appeals emphasized, Petitioner failed "to demonstrate that any ruling by Commissioner (later Judge) Tutsch on the residential schedule in and after the summer of 2019 was not independently arrived at by her. Independent decision-making does not require a court to act as if earlier court orders do not exist." Matter of Marriage of Kienow, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1064 at *6.1 That issue likewise does not involve a significant question of constitutional law.

Third, the Court of Appeals also emphasized that Petitioner failed to object to and challenge the tribal court's assertion of jurisdiction, and in fact availed himself of the tribal court to pursue the issue of jurisdiction. <u>Id.</u> at *5. That similarly does not present a significant question of constitutional law. It presents ordinary state law issues, such as waiver.

¹ In fact, the trial court's order specifically noted that it was reaching its decision independent of the order. CP at 115.

Fourth, Petitioner fails to establish that his untimely substantive objection to the Court of Appeals' ruling, even if properly raised, impacts RAP 13.4(b). As the Court of Appeals noted, Petitioner identified no legal authority that supports this proposition. The Court of Appeals recognized that the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA) recognizes that more than one state (or Indian tribe, since tribes are treated as states) may have jurisdiction. Matter of Marriage of Kienow, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1064 at *5. While Petitioner attempts to argue that the UCCJEA does not apply because the children never lived on tribal land, *Petition for Review at 6*, there is no citation to the record for that unsupported assertion.

C. PETITIONER'S DISSATISFACTION WITH THE PARENTING PLAN DOES NOT IMPLICATE RAP 13.4(B)

Petitioner takes issue with the trial court's parenting plan and argues that the trial court applied the RCW 26.09.191 restrictions too leniently to Respondent in light of the

trial court's finding of domestic violence. *Petition for Review at* 8-10.

Petitioner argues that domestic violence involves a public interest. *Petition for Review at 8-10*. But that misstates the standard. Petitioner must show "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Washington has a general public policy interest in many things, including preventing workplace discrimination (Roberts v. Dudley, 140 Wn.2d 58, 993 P.2d 901 (2000), as amended (Feb. 22, 2000)), promoting workplace safety (Cudney v. ALSCO, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 524, 259 P.3d 244 (2011), overruled on other grounds by Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co., 184 Wn.2d 268, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015)), and preventing wrongful discharge (Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc., 128 Wn.2d 931, 935, 913 P.2d 377, 379 (1996)).

That does not mean, however, that every case involving such scenarios warrants review by this Court. If that were the

case, this Court would be inundated with review of such cases.² The interest, rather, must be substantial such that review by this Court is justified. For instance, in <u>State v. Watson</u>, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005), the Court concluded discretionary review was appropriate where the Court of Appeals' decision made sweeping changes to sentencing guidelines that "while affecting parties to this proceeding, also has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue."

Nothing in the Petition supports the conclusion that the Court of Appeals' decision here implicates a substantial public interest warranting review by this State's highest court, or somehow would have a sweeping impact affecting other parties.

The Court of Appeals did not disavow the importance of

Moreover, under Petitioner's interpretation, review of such cases would for all intents and purposes be as of right, thus contradicting the discretionary purpose of RAP 13.4(b).

domestic violence laws. The Court of Appeals simply considered the trial court's finding that Respondent had committed domestic violence and used its discretion not to impose residential restrictions where it found that the conduct was unlikely to recur or did not have an impact on the child. That was a routine and discretionary application of well-settled law that applies only to the parties in this particular matter, not to other litigants. Matter of Marriage of Kienow, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1064 at *11.3 Petitioner's dissatisfaction with the Court of Appeals' ruling does not justify this Court's review.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Division III's opinion is consistent with the long-standing and well-settled law. Petitioner has not shown that Division III's decision conflicts with this Court's precedent or that this dispute

³ As the Court of Appeals properly pointed out, however, a trial court wields broad discretion when fashioning a permanent parenting plan. <u>Katare v. Katare</u>, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35, 283 P.3d 546 (2012) (citing <u>In re Marriage of Kovacs</u>, 121 Wn.2d 795, 801, 854 P.2d 629 (1993)). Petitioner fails to show how the trial court's routine and discretionary application of RCW 26.09.187 and RCW 26.09.191, or its decision not to consider expert testimony, meets the mandatory criteria in RAP 13.4(b), let alone was even erroneous.

involves an issue of substantial public interest. The Court should therefore deny review and award fees to Respondent.

Certificate of Compliance: I hereby certify there are 1367 words contained in this Answer, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 29th day of August, 2023

PETER M. RITCHIE, WSBA #41293

Meyer, Fluegge & Tenney, P.S.

Attorneys for Respondent

DAVID THERRIEN-POWER, WSBA #40627

Yakima Law, PLLC

Attorneys for Respondent

MEYER, FLUEGGE & TENNEY

August 29, 2023 - 4:33 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 102,054-6

Appellate Court Case Title: In re the Marriage of Devin Christopher Kienow and Teresa A. Dittentholer

Kienow

Superior Court Case Number: 18-3-00711-1

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 1020546_Answer_Reply_20230829163152SC855978_2654.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 2023.08.29 Answer to Petition.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- Matt@Kaminski.law
- brooke@yakima.law
- david@newhouselawpllc.com
- david@yakima.law
- dkienow@hotmail.com
- info@yakima.law
- kimmy@pnwfamilylaw.com
- lara@mftlaw.com

Comments:

Sender Name: Deanna Boss - Email: boss@mftlaw.com

Filing on Behalf of: Peter Mcgillis Ritchie - Email: ritchie@mftlaw.com (Alternate Email: switzer@mftlaw.com)

Address:

230 S. 2nd Street Yakima, WA, 98901 Phone: (509) 575-8500

Note: The Filing Id is 20230829163152SC855978